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OPINION
TIMOTHY P. CANNON, 1.,

*1 {91} Appellant, Nathaniel Jackson, appeals from the
March 29, 2017 judgment entry of the Trumbull County
Court of Common Pleas, denying his “Motion for Leave
to File a Motion for a New Mitigation Trial.” The trial
court's judgment is affirmed.

1Y 2} Appellant was charged with various crimes,
including aggravated murder, in 2001. The charges
stemmed from the shooting death of Robert Fingerhut,
who, at the time of his death, was residing with his former
wife, Donna Roberts. During the months prior to Mr.
Fingerhut's murder. appellant and Roberts exchanged
letters and phone calls in which they plotted for appellant
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to murder Mr. Fingerhut so that Roberts could collect life
insurance proceeds in excess of $500,000.00. Roberts was
also charged with murder for her role in Mr. Fingerhut's
death.

{f 3} In November 2002, a jury found appellant
guilty of two counts of aggravated murder, one count
of aggravated burglary, and one count of aggravated
robbery. The jury further found the state of Ohio had
proved, beyond a reasonable doubt, two specifications
of aggravating circumstances, to wit: that appellant
committed the murder while committing, attempting to
commit, or flecing immediately after committing (1)
aggravated burglary and (2) aggravated robbery. The jury
concluded the state proved. beyond a reasonable doubt,
that these aggravating circumstances outweighed any
mitigating factors and returned a verdict recommending
the death penalty. After independently weighing the
aggravating circumstances and mitigating factors, the trial
court imposed the sentence of death upon appellant.

{7 4} In a separate trial, Roberts was also found guilty
of the aggravated murder of Mr. Fingerhut. The jury
recommended the death penalty, which was imposed by
the trial court. See State v. Roberss, 110 Ohio St.3d 71,
2006-Ohio-3665, 850 N.E.2d 1168,

Y 5} The Ohio Supreme Court affirmed appellant's
convictions and death sentence. Stare v. Jackson. 107
Ohio St.3d 300. 2006-Ohio-1, 839 N.E.2d 362. Appellant's
original and amended petitions for postconviction relief
were denied by the trial court, and this court affirmed that
judgment. Statev. Juckson, 11th Dist. Trumbull No. 2004-
T-0089. 2006-Ohio-2651.

{9 6} The Ohio Supreme Court vacated Roberts' death
sentence due to improper ex parte communication
between the prosecution and the trial court judge who
had presided over both Roberts' and appellant's trials.
The ex parte communication at issue was the use of
the prosecutor in preparing the trial court's sentencing
opinion without including defense counsel in the process.
Roberts, supra, al§) 3. The Ohio Supreme Court remanded
the case and instructed the trial court judge to personally
review and evaluate whether the death penalty was
appropriate. Id. at §167.

{1 7} Following the decision in Roeherts, appellant filed
a Civ.R. 60(B) motion for relief from the trial court's
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denial of his petition for postconviction relief. Appellant
also filed an application to disqualify the trial court
judge based on the judge's statement, during a hearing
held in Roberts, that he had similarly relied on the
prosecutor to prepare paperwork for him in other criminal
cases. [ re Disqualification of Stuard, 113 Ohio St.3d
1236, 2006-0Ohio-7233. § 1-3, 863 N.E.2d 636. The trial
court judge responded to the application to disqualify,
in which he acknowledged he had held similar ex parte
communications with the prosecutors in both Roberts and
Jackson before sentencing each of them to death. I at 74,

*2 {18} The Chief Justice declined to disqualify the trial

court judge from further participation in the matter. fd.
at ¢ 10. The trial court subsequently denied appellant's
Civ.R. 60(B) motion for relief from the denial of his
postconviction petition, and this court affirmed that
Judgment. Stare v. Jackson, 11th Dist, Trumbull No, 2008-
T-0024. 2010-Ohio-1270.

{1 9} In February 2008, appellant filed a “Motion for
New Trial and/or Sentencing Hearing.” The trial court
denied this motion on the basis that there is no provision
in the Ohio Criminal Rules for a new sentencing hearing
and the motion for new trial was untimely under Crim.R.
33(B). This court reversed the trial court's judgment
because the same drafting procedures and ex parte
communication involving the sentencing entry that had
occurred in Roberts also took place in appellant's case.
State v. Jackson, 190 Ohio App.3d 319, 2010-Ohio-5034,
941 N.E.2d 1221 (11th Dist.). We held appellant was
entitled to the same relief the Ohio Supreme Court had
afforded Roberts. /d at 4 29. Therefore, we did not
order the trial court to conduct a new trial or sentencing
hearing on remand. but the trial judge was ordered to
“personally review and evaluate the appropriateness of the
death penalty, prepare an entirely new sentencing entry as
required by R.C. 2929.03(F), and conduct whatever other
proceedings are required by law and consistent with this
opinion.” Id., citing Roberts, supra, at ¥ 167,

{1 10} On remand, the trial court again sentenced
appellant to death and filed a new sentencing opinion
pursuant to R.C. 2929.03(F), which was affirmed by the
Ohio Supreme Court. State v. Juckson, 149 Ohio St.3d 55.
2016-Ohio-3488, 73 N.E.3d 414.

{911} OnJanuary 13, 2017, appellant filed a “Motion for
Leave to File a Motion for a New Mitigation Trial,” which

is the subject of the instant appeal. The arguments raised
in this motion are based on a recent opinion of the United
States Supreme Court, Hurst v. Florida, — U.S. ——o,
136 S.Ct. 616. 193 L.Ed.2d 504 (2016). The Hurst Court
held Florida's death penalty sentencing scheme violated
the Sixth Amendment right to have a jury, not a judge, find
the facts that support the decision to sentence a defendant
to death. /d. at 622, applying Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S.
584, 122 S.Ct. 2428, 153 L.Ed.2d 556 (2002) and citing
Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466. 120 S.Ct. 2348,
147 L.Ed.2d 435 (2000). Appellant argues Ohio's death
penalty sentencing scheme similarly violates the Sixth
Amendment.

9 12} Appellant asserted the trial court should grant
him leave to file a delayed motion for a “new mitigation
trial,” under Crim.R. 33(A)(1), (4). and (5), because he
“could not have anticipated” the holding in Hurst and,
thus, “could not have filed his motion for new trial within
fourteen days of the imposition of sentence.” Appellee
responded, in part, that Crim.R. 33 is not designed for
the relief sought by appellant, i.e. a “new mitigation trial,”
and that the trial court should construe the motion as a
petition for postconviction relief under R.C. 2953 21.

9 13} The trial court denied the motion on March
29, 2017. The trial court found the motion was time
barred, whether considered pursuant to Crim.R. 33 or
R.C. 2953.21. The trial court further found the motion
was substantively meritless and that Ohio's death penalty
scheme is sufficiently different from what was invalidated
in Hurst to survive constitutional scrutiny.

*3 {914} Appellant filed a timely appeal and has raised
one assignment of error for our review:

{9 15} “The trial court erred when it denied Jackson's
motion for leave to file his motion for a new trial.”

11 16} Appellant first argues the trial court misconstrued
the applicable law concerning whether his motion was
timely filed. This argument raises an issue of law we
review de novo. See, e.g., State v. Fortune, 1 1th Dist. Lake
No. 2014-L-117, 42 N.E.3d 1224, 2015-Ohio-4019. § 16
(citation omitted).

1917} Appellant asserts his proposed “Motion for a New
Mitigation Trial” is based on the provisions in Crim.R,
33(A), which governs motions for new trial. The timeliness
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of motions for new trial is governed by Crim.R. 33(B),
which states:

Application for a new trial shall
be made by motion which, except
for the cause of newly discovered
evidence, shall be filed within
fourteen days after the verdict was
rendered, or the decision of the
court where a trial by jury has been
waived, unless it is made to appear
by clear and convincing proof
that the defendant was unavoidably
prevented from filing his motion for
a new trial, in which case the motion
shall be filed within seven days
from the order of the court finding
that the defendant was unavoidably
prevented from filing such motion
within the time provided herein.

{9 18} The jury verdict in appellant's case was rendered
in 2002; thus, the trial court was required to determine
whether appellant was “unavoidably prevented” from
filing his motion within fourteen days of the verdict. The
trial court did not engage in this analysis. It instead stated:
“[Tlhe Court finds the motion is untimely. Pursuant to
Crim.R. 33(B), motions such as this must be filed within
fourteen days after the verdict was rendered. Jackson is
entirely outside this time frame. Therefore, the Court finds
no basis on which to grant leave to file a request under
Crim.R. 33"

19 19} We agree with appellant that the trial court did
not engage in the proper analysis regarding the timeliness
of a delayed motion for new trial, pursuant to Crim.R.
3MB). See Stare v. Trimble. 11th Dist. Trumbull No.
2013-P-0088. 30 N.E.3d 222, 2013-Ohic-942, 4 18 (without
a determination of whether appellant was “unavoidably
prevented,” this court is left with an insufficient record to
review),

{9 20} We conclude, however, that this error was
harmless. as the basis for appellant's motion—to wit, an
alleged constitutional violation that occurred during the
sentencing proceedings—is not appropriately raised in a
Crim.R. 33 motion for new trial.

1921} In Davie, this court held “there is no provision in the
Ohio Criminal Rules that provides for a new sentencing
hearing.” Stare v. Davie, 11th Dist, Trumbull No. 2007-
T-0069, 2007-Ohio-6940. ¥ 8. Appellant argues this court
subsequently ruled otherwise with respect to the propriety
of seeking sentencing relief in a motion for new trial, citing
a previous opinion in his own case: Juckson, supra, 2010-
Ohio-5054,

{9 22} In February 2008, appellant filed a “Motion for
New Trial and/or Sentencing Hearing.” The trial court
denied this motion because the motion for new trial was
untimely under Crim.R. 33(B) and because there is no
provision in the Ohio Criminal Rules for a new sentencing
hearing. This court reversed the trial court's judgment and
remanded the case for the trial judge to “personally review
and evaluate the appropriateness of the death penalty,
prepare an entirely new sentencing entry as required by
R.C.2929.03(F), and conduct whatever other proceedings
are required by law and consistent with this opinion.” /d.
at ¥ 29, citing Roberts, supra. at 4 167,

*4 {923} This court neither relied on nor overruled Davie
in that decision because the cases were distinguishable: our
holding in Juckson was not based on the applicability of
Crim.R. 33, but on the Ohio Supreme Court's holding in
Roberts. Id. at 928 -29. Because the trial court judge had
admitted in an affidavit that the same drafting procedures
and ex parte communication involving the sentencing
entry that had occurred in Reberrs also took place in
appellant's case. appellant was entitled to the same relief
the Ohio Supreme Court had afforded Roberts. /i at §
29; see also id. at 9 43 (Cannon, Trapp, JJ., concurring)
(“Based on the holding in Roberts as well as the trial
judge's affidavit opposing disqualification filed in this
case, * * * the only proper disposition of this matter is for
the trial court to proceed with resentencing.”).

1924} Appellant's argument is not well taken; our holding
in Davie was not compromised by our holding in Jackson.
There is no provision in Crim.R. 33, or in any Ohio
Criminal Rule, that provides for a new sentencing hearing.
Davie. supra. at 4 8. Appellant cannot escape the fact
that Crim.R. 33 is not the proper vehicle to obtain the
relief he seeks by captioning his motion, “Motion for New
Mitigation Trial,” when it is, in fact, a motion for a new
sentencing hearing.
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19 25} We further note that, even if Crim.R. 33 was
the proper vehicle, appellant could not succeed on his
motion for leave to file a delayed motion for new trial.
Appellant argues he was “unavoidably prevented” from
filing a timely motion because the basis for his motion,
Hurst v. Florida, was decided nearly 14 years after he was
sentenced to death. Appellant was capable, however, of
raising the same argument prior to Hurst by relying on
Apprendiy. New Jersey and Ring v. Arizona, both of which
were decided prior to his sentence. See Stare v. Roberts,
150 Ohio St.3d 47, 2017-Ohio-2998. 4 84. 78 N.E.3d 851;
State v. Mundr, Tth Dist. Noble No. 17 NO 0446, 2017-
Ohio-7771. 4 9. Thus, appellant was not “unavoidably
prevented” from filing a timely motion for new trial on
the basis that Ohio's death penalty sentencing scheme
allegedly violates the Sixth Amendment.

{9 26} After finding appellant's motion untimely under
Crim.R. 33, the trial court construed the motion as
a petition for postconviction relief. pursuant to R.C,
2953.21. “[W]here a criminal defendant, subsequent to his
or her direct appeal, files a motion seeking vacation or
correction of his or her sentence on the basis that his or
her constitutional rights have been violated, such a motion
is a petition for postconviction relief as defined in R.C.
2953.21.7 State v. Revnolds, 79 Ohio St.3d 158, 160. 679
N.E.2d 1131 (1997); see also Davie, supra, at ¥ 9, quoting
State v. Foti, 1lth Dist. Lake No. 2006-L-138, 2007-
Ohio-887, 4 12 (** "a criminal defendant who files a motion
to vacate or correct his or her sentence on the ground
that his or her constitutional rights have been violated
necessarily embraces the postconviction relief statutes’ ).

{9 27} The postconviction relief statutes provide, in
relevant part:

Any person who has been convicted
of a criminal offense * * * and who
claims that there was such a denial
or infringement of the person's
rights as to render the judgment
void or voidable under the Ohio
Constitution or the Constitution of
the United States * * * may file a
petition in the court that imposed
sentence, stating the grounds for
relief relied upon, and asking the
court to vacate or set aside the

judgment or sentence or to grant
other appropriate relief.

R.C. 2953.21(A)(1)a); see also R.C. 2933.21{A)3) (“a
person who has been sentenced to death may ask the court
to render void or voidable * * * the sentence of death™).

{9 28} At the time appellant was convicted and sentenced
to death, a petition for postconviction relief was timely
when it was filed no later than 180 days after the trial
transcript was filed with the Ohio Supreme Court. See
former R.C. 2953.21(A)2) (the current version of the
statute provides for 365 days). A convicted offender may
file an untimely or a successive petition for postconviction
relief when, as isrelevant here, both of the following apply:

*§ (a) * * * The United States Supreme Court
recognized a new federal or state right that applies
retroactively to persons in the petitioner's situation, and
the petition asserts a claim based on that right.

(b) The petitioner shows by clear and convincing
evidence that, * * * but for constitutional error at
the sentencing hearing, no reasonable factfinder would
have found the petitioner eligible for the death sentence.

R.C.2953.23(A)(1).

9] 29} Here, the trial court stated: “In addition, if the
Court were to construe Jackson's motion as a post-
conviction relief request pursuant to R.C. 2953.21, the
Court finds no basis on which to grant such a request. The
Court finds such a post-conviction request would be time
barred as the request was filed well beyond the 180-day
statutory period.”

19 30} Again, the trial court did not engage in the proper
analysis regarding the timeliness of the motion, even when
construed as a petition for postconviction relief, because it
did not review the exceptions outlined in R.C. 2953.23(A).
We again conclude, however, that this error was harmless.

1Y 31} First, appellant has not raised this error on
appeal, instead insisting his motion was not a petition for
postconviction relief and should not be construed as such.
Because he has repeatedly emphasized before the trial
court and on appeal that his motion was only intended to
be considered a Crim.R. 33 motion for new trial. we agree
to proceed on that basis. See State v. Bush. 96 Ohio St.3d
235, 2002-0hio-3993, 773 N.E.2d 322,

A-4
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{9 32} We further recognize, however, that appellant's
insistence in this regard appears to be an effort to
avoid the retroactivity requirement found in R.C.
2953.23(A)1)(a). In other words, appellant's motion
could only be successful, when construed as a petition
for postconviction relief, if Hurst v. Florida recognized a
new federal right that applies retroactively to persona in
appellant's situation.

19 33} A new rule issued by the United States Supreme
Court is not retroactively applicable to cases on collateral
review unless the United States Supreme Court expressly
holds it to be retroactive. Tvier v. Cuin, 533 U.S. 656,
663, 121 S.Ct. 2478, 150 L.Ed.2d 632 (2001). “In Tyler,
the Court acknowledged that, ‘with the right combination
of holdings,” it could ‘make a rule retroactive over the
course of two cases.” " In re Zambranoe. 433 F.3d 886,
§88(D.C.Cir.2006), quoting I'vier, supra. at 666, 121 S.Ct,
2478. This is only possible, however, “if the holdings in
those cases necessarily dictate retroactivity of the new
rule.” Tyler, supra. at 666, 121 S.Ct. 2478,

19 34} Here, the United States Supreme Court did not
expressly hold that Hurst v. Florida was to be applied
retroactively to cases on collateral review. Additionally,
the holding in Hurst was an application of Ring. which
held that capital defendants “are entitled to a jury
determination of any fact on which the legislature
conditions an increase in their maximum punishment.”
Ring, supra, at 389, 122 S.Ct. 2428; see Hurst.
at 622 (“In light of Ring. we hold that Hurst's sentence
violates the Sixth Amendment.).” And the United States
Supreme Court has expressly held that Ring does not clpply
retroactively to cases on collateral review:

SUprd.

The right to jury trial is fundamental
to our system of criminal procedure,
and States are bound to enforce
the Sixth Amendment's guarantees
as we interpret them. But it does
not follow that,
defendant has had a full trial and one
round of appeals in which the State
faithfully applied the Constitution
as we understood it at the time, he
may nevertheless continue to litigate

when a criminal

his claims indefinitely in hopes that
we will one day have a change

of heart. Ring announced a new
procedural rule that does not apply
retroactively to cases already final
on direct review,

*6 Schrive v. Summerlin, 542 U.S. 348, 358, 124 S.CL.
2519, 159 L.Ed.2d 442 (2004); see also Holmes v. Neal,
316 F.3d 949, 954 (7thCir.2016). Thus, the possibility of a
“Tyler two-step” does not assist appellant in his attempt
to retroactively apply the holding in Hurst to a collateral
review of his sentence. See Zambrano. supra. at 888..

19 35} Appellant's final issue presented for our review is
whether the trial court erred in holding that Ohio's death
penalty scheme does not violate a defendant's right to a
jury trial, as presented in Hurst. In that regard, the trial
court stated:

Even if the Court did not find the requests were
time barred as explained herein, the Court finds the
reliance upon the Hurst v. Florida, —11.S, ——
136 S.Ct. 616. 193 L.Ed.2d 504 (2016), decision is
misplaced. ‘Hurst, * * * does not invalidate Ohio's
capital sentencing scheme because Ohio's scheme is
materially different from Florida's.” McKnight v. Bobhy,
S.D. Ohio No. 2:09-CV-039, 2017 WL 631411, *3-4. In
fact, the Ohio mechanism provides an additional layer
of protection not present in Hurst. 1d. Indeed, ‘Ohio's
capital-sentencing scheme is unlike the laws at issue in
Ring and Hurst.” State v. Belion, 2016-Ohio-1381, 159,
149 Ohio St.3d 165, 74 N.E.3d 319.

1Y 36} Appellant asserts the trial court's reliance on
McKnight and Belton is misplaced. It is well settled,
however, ‘court will not reach
constitutional issues unless absolutely necessary.’

State v. Ferrp., 1th Dist. Lake No. 2007-1-217. 2008-
Ohio-2616. 9 19, quoting State v. Talty. 103 Ohio St.3d
177, 2004-Ohio-4888. % 9, 814 N.E.2d 1201, citing fnn re
Miller, 63 Ohio St.3d 99, 110. 385 N.E.2d 396 (1992) and
Hall China Co. v. Pub. Util. Conun.. 50 Ohio St.2d 206,
210, 364 N.E.2d 8§52 (1977). Based on our determinations
above, it is not absolutely necessary to address this
constitutional issue, and we therefore decline to do so.
We further note, however, that the Ohio Supreme Court
recently rejected this argument in Srare v. Mason, Sup.Ct.
No. 2017-0200, Slip Opn. No. 2018-Ohio-1462: ©
requires the critical jury findings that were not required by
the laws at issue in Ring and Hurst, See R.C. 2929.03(C)

that a reviewing *

Ohio law
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{2). Ohio's death-penalty scheme, therefore, does not
violate the Sixth Amendment.” Ji/ at 4 21,

19 37} Appellant's sole assignment of error is without
merit.

{1 38} The judgment of the Trumbull County Court of
Common Pleas is hereby affirmed.

End of Document

DIANE V. GRENDELL, I,
COLLEEN MARY O'TOOQOLE, ., concur.
All Citations

Slip Copy, 2018 WL 2676465, 2018 -Ohio- 2146
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IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

TRUMBULL COUNTY OHIO
STATE OF OHIO, ) CASENO.  0]-CR-794
)
Plaintiff, ) JUDGE JOHN M. STUARD
)
-Vs- ) OPINION OF THE COURT
)
NATHANIELE.JACKSON. ) FINDINGS OF FACT AND
: ) CONCLUSIONS OF LAWREGARDING
Defendant. ) IMPOSITION OF DEATH PENALTY

On November 8, 2002, a Trumbull County Jury retumed a verdict finding the
Defendant, Nathaniel E. Jackson, guilty of two (2) counts of Aggravated Murder arising from
the death of Robert S. Fingerhut. Since Count One angd Count Two of the Indictment merge for
sentencing purposes, the State elected to dismiss Count Two and proceed to the mitigation phase
on the first count of the indictment. Therefore, for purposes ofthjs opinion, the Defendant was
convicted, under the first count of the indictment, of purposely, and with prior calculation and
design, causing the death of Robert S. Fingerhut. The jury further found that the State had

proved beyond a reasonable doubt two (2) specifications of aggravating circumstances. After

the mitigation hearing, the jury concluded that the State had proved beyond a reasonable doubt
that the aggravating circumstances outweighed the mitigating factors and returned a verdict
recommending that the sentence of death be imposed upon the Defendant.

Facually, the evidence revealed that while the Defendant was in prison for a prior
conviction unrelated to the present case, he along with the Co-Defendant, Donna Roberts, who
is precedently awaiting trial for her involvement, plotted the murder of her house mate, and ex-

husband, Robert §. Fingerhut. Indeed, both of them concocted a plan to kill Fingerhut to permil
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the Defendant and Roberts to live happily ever after. However, the plan went awry whep
Jackson, who was in the house where Fingerhut stayed, was shot in the left index finger during
the execution of Fingerhut. He then took Fingerhut's car keys, and drove the vehicle which
Fingerhut typica‘l!y operated to Youngstown. Shortly therea fer, Roberts took the Defendant
toamotel in Boardman, getting him a room where he could hide out, Ultimately, the Defendant
Was captured at a home in Youngstown, and he gave a statement to the police alleging self-
defense,

More specifically, the State introduced evidence that on December 11, 2001, two (2)
days after the Defendant was released from prison, Robert S, Fingerhut, while in his home, was
pistol whipped, and shot three(3) times, causing at least four (4) injuries from gun shots. Two
of the injuries were to the back, with one grazing the back, and the other ente?ing near the
shoulder before exiting out the chest area of the victim. Fingerhut also sustained a defensive
gunshot wound to the webbing of his left hand between the thumb and forefinger. The fatal eun
shot was to the top of the head and from a short distance. This injury would “would have
dropped him like a sack of potatoes,” as testified to by Dr. Germaniuk.

Police responded to the crime scene as aresult of a 911 call. When they arrived at
approximately 12:01 a.m,, they were met by the Co-Defendant, who informed them that her
husband’s car was missing. She also granted them permission to search the residence and he_r
car. During this scarch, police found more than 140 letters from the Defendant to Roberts in her
dresser, and an equal number of letters from Roberts to the Defendant, in the trunk of the Co-
Defendant's car, in a paper bag bearing the Defendant's name and prison number,

Additionally, law enforcement officers were able to obtain nineteen (19) telephone
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conversations, lasting more than three (3) hours, which were recorded while the Defendant wag
incarcerated in Lorajn Correctional Institution. These telephone conversations, along with the
letters which spanned three (3) months, revealed a continuing and evolving plan 1o ki|l
Fingerhut immediately upon the Defendant’s release from prison.

Specifically, during these telephone conversations, and in the written letters, the
Defendant requested that Roberts obtain for him, black gloves to conceal his fingerprints, a ski
mask, and a pair of handcuffs. Further, the Defendant, during the December 8,2001, telephone
conversation, which was recorded the day before he was discharged from Lorain, and three (3)
days before the murder, stressed to Roberts that he “need[ed] to be in the house [in which
Fingerhut lived] before he [got] home " in order to carry out the premeditated murder. Roberts,
in a letter written to the Defendant acknowledged that she has found thin, fleece line, leather
gloves, but was stil] looking for the ski mask.

Indeed, the State introduced black leather gloves with fleece lining which were recovered
from the house where the Defendant was arrested. These gloves, which had gun shot residue
on them, had a hole in the lefl index finger, and a reddish substance which appeared to be blood
was also observed in that same area. This damaged matched the injur} that the Defendant had
sustained to his finger. Although the actual handcuffs were neverrecovered by police, an empty
handcuff box was found in Donna Robert’s car.

* The evidence also revealed that Roberts, near the time of the murder, was seen driving
her automobile in a very slow manner away from the vicinity of the home where Fingerhut lived.
Furthermore, within two (2) hours from the last time Fingerhut was seen alive, Roberts rented

a hotel room for the Defendant. [n this room, bloody bandages and other medical supplies were




found by hotel cleaning people and were subsequently collected by police.

The car which was usually driven by Fingerhut, and which had been reported stolep by
the Co-Defendant the night of Fingerhut’s murder Was recovered in Youngstown, Ohio, Blood
stains were located throughout the vehicle and were collected by law enforcement. DNA
analysis revealed that the blood matched that of DNA profile of the Defendant.

The State also introduced evidence that Roberts and the Defendant discussed purchasing
a "new Lincoln" or “2002 Cadillac DeVille” for the Defendant. Additionally, Fingerhut had
two (2) life insurance policies with a total death benefit 0!'3550,00.00, and with Donna Roberts
named as the beneficiary.

Based upon this and other evidence, the Jury properly concluded that the Defendant
committed a burglary to faciljtate the premeditated ang purposeful murder of the victim
Fingerhut along with Roberts. The Defendant after executing his plan then stole Fingerhut's
vehicle which allowed the jury to find that the murder was committed while committing the
aggravating circumstances of Aggravated Burglary and Aggravated Robbery.

In a case of this nature, pursuant to R.C. 2929.03(D)(3), the Court js required to
determine whether the State has proved beyond a reasonable doubt that the aggravating
circumstances outweigh the mitigating factors. Indeed, the Supreme Court of Ohio has stated
in State v. Wogenstahl (1996), 75 Ohio St. 3d 344

“{T]he nature and circumstances of the offense may only enter into the statutory
weighing process on the side of mitigation, *** [I]n the penalty phase of a
capital trial, the ‘aggravating circumstances’ against which the mitigating
evidence is to be weighed are limited to the specifications of aggravating
circumstances set forth in R, 2929.04(A)(!)through (8) that have been alleged
in the indictment and proved beyond a reasonable doubt.” Wogenstahi (1996),
75 Ohio St. 3d 344 at 356.




In performing its statutory dlity, the a review of the aggravaling circumstances is
required,

1) The Defendant committed the Aggravated Murder while he was committing,

attempting to commit, or Sleeing immediately after committing Aggravated
Burglary and that he was the principal offender.,

The evidence presented at trial reflected that the Defendant trespassed in the victim’s
dwelling and murdered him. The Court finds that the Defendant entered into 254 Fonderlac
Drive, in Howland Township. He was wearing gloves and armed with a gun, with which he
struck the victim leaving a mark on Fingerhut’s face. Once in the house, he fired the gun three
times causing four (4) separate wounds, The fatal shot was to the top of Fingerhut’s head, and
nearly straight down,

From the aforementioned evidence, the Jury concluded that the defendant committed the
Aggravated Murder of while he Was committing, attempting to commit, or fleeing immediately
after committing ggravated Burglary and that he was the principal offender.

21 The Defendant committed the Aggravated Murder while le swas committing,

attempting to commit, or Seeing immediately after committing Aggravated
Robbery and that he was the principal offender,

After the Defendant had murdered the victim, he took the victim's car keys and his car
As he was driving away from the crime scene, and prior to abandoning the vehicle in
Youngstown, he left blood evidence throughout the car. This evidence was subjected to DNA
testing, which confirmed that forensically, it was his blood. Quite simply, the Defendant

committed the Aggravated Robbery to escape the consequences of his prior murderous act.




This evidence permitting thc'jury to conclude that the Defendant committed the
Aggravated Murder while he was committing, attempting to commit, or flecing immcdiare]y
after committing Aggravated Robbery and that he was the principal offender,

Tobe wci'ghed against the aggravaling circumstances are the mitigating factors, I, this
case, the following factors were considered by the Court as possible mitigation against each
specification and against the imposition of the death penalty:

1) The nature and circumstances of the offense, the history, character, and

background of the offender.

As was noted in Wogenstahl, supra, the nature and circumstances of the offense may
only enter into the Statutory weighing process on the side of mitigation. However, in this case,
reviewing the nature and circumstances, the Court does not find any credible evidence which
would allow the Court to accord any weight to the nature and circumstances of the offense
against the imposition of the death penalty.

In considering the history, character and background of the offender, this Court
considered the home life of the Defendant and the fact that he grew up in a relatively poor
environment, and that he was cared for and raised by his mother and matemal grandmother. His
biological father had little, if any, real involvement with him, and this lack of a father figure
likely contributed to his behavioral problems .

Though the Coqrt gives some weight to the Defendant's upbringing, it deserves little
weight because of the credible testimony from the Defendant’s step-father, his sister, his mother,
and Dr. McPherson. These witnesses testified that the Defendant was respectful to both is

mother and grandmother. His sister, who described as smart and really kind, noted that they




attended church. Further, there was t.cstimony offered that he was reared in an environment,
where he was not physically or sexually abused. His mother also declined to say that hig home
Was in a “rough neighborhood, or that the Defendant had any problems in school, pp.
McPherson’s report noted that the Defendant had not been hospitalized for any physical or
mental condition. The witnesses also noted that they practiced moral tenets and that
responsibility and respect were taught.

Inconclusion, from the testimony of these witnesses, there is nothing particularly evident
to show an unusual childhood or to offer an explanation for the Defendant’s behavior which
would be entitled any significant weight on the side of mitigation,

2.) Whether the victim of the offense induced or JSacilitated the killing,

Although under R.C. 2929.04(B)(1), the mitigating factor regarding whether the victim
of the offense induced or facilitated it was not specifically argued by the Defendant during the
penalty phase of the trail as mitigating, the Court did consider the Defendant’s video taped
statement presented in evidence during the trial phase. In the sell-serving statement, the
Defendant claimed that the killing of the victim was as a result of the Defendant protecting
himself from an unprovoked attack by the victin.

This statement to the police altempted to construct a scenario wherein the victim
approached the Defendant to purchase marijuana and then invited the Defendant into his home.
The Defendant then claims that the victim then pulled a sunon him. The Defendant asserted
that he attempted to disarm the victim, but the gun went off apparently striking the victim.
However, the other facts illustrating the planning and execution of the murder along with the

physical evidence introduced causes the Defendant's version not to be credible. As such, the




Court does not accord any weight to this mitigating factor.
3) Whether it is unlikely that the offense would have been committed, by for the
Jact that the offender wwas under duress, coercion, or Strong provocation.

Again, while the Defendant did not specifically argue this mitigating factor, the Court,
upon reviewing the video tape, noticed that the Defendant claimed that the victim made
derogatory statements about the Defendant’s race which angered the Defendant, However, the
this comment i likewise not convincing for the same reasons noted previously. This mitigating
factors has no weight,

4)  Any other factors that are relevant to the jssye of whether the offender should

be sentenced to death,

UnderR.C. 2929.04 (B)(7), commonly referred to as the “catch all provision™ the Court
reviewed the Defendant’s capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct in light of the
defense expert testimony regarding his menta| history and mental state at the time of the offense
was considered as a possible factor under R.C. 2929.04(B)(3).

This testimony revealed that the Defendant suffered from Attention Deficit
Disorder/H)peraclivity Disorder, Chemical Dependency, and a reported history ofalcoho| abuse.
Further, the evidence disclosed that the Defendant had an Antisocial Personality Disorder and
was considered low average or better in intelligence,

Significantly, ﬁowevcr, there was no evidence presented that the Defendant, at the time
of the offense, had any mental disease or defect or that he lacked the capacity to appreciate the
criminality of his conduct, His Antisocial Personality Disorder only showed that he had a

historyofinappropriate and impulsive behavior from his early childhood to the present. He was




incarcerated four (4) times, According to the Defendant’s own expert, the Defendant,
throughout his juvenile and adult life had received repeated treatment and/or probation for his
criminal transgressions and his drug and alcohol abuse. He did not learn from his past Mistakes,
but only escalated his antisocial conduct,

In summary, this Court gives very little weight in mitigation to the Defendant’s menta]
Status, and his drug and alcohol abuse history especially in light of the Defendant’s elaborate
scheme to kill the victim, elude capture, and finally decejve police officers with a statement
blaming the victim.

Further under 2929.04(B)(7), the Court examined the Defendant’s ability to maintain
himselfin a stable fashion in a structured setting. Indeed, it was suggested by the Defense that
he could be a productive member of the gencral prison population, and that this should be
considered as mitigating. However, the Court gives slight weight to this particular factor,

The Defendant’s last incarceration was the result of him not leaming from his past
mistakes, and from his tendency to act out impulsively withou looking at the consequences.
Furthermore, he repeatedly was placed on probation, but he continued to digress, committing
more serious criminal acts. Indeed, during the last incarceration, the Defendant claimed to have
“found God" and that he was going to straighten out his life. Atthe same time, it is abundantly
clear that he was plotting to commit the ultimate criminal act, a premeditated burglary and
murder, while pre-textually presenting himself to prison officials as a good candidate for a
release program. Quite simply, in the very setting in which the Defense suggests that he could
be a productive member, the Defendant defined and refined a plot, involving gloves, a mask and

handcuffs, to murder Robert S. Fingerhut so that in effect he could assume Fingerhut's lifestyle,
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including running the Greyhound bus business, managing rental properties, and living in his
home with his ex-wife.

The Defendant also offered an unsworn statement, wherein he stated that he wag “very
sorry for what happened.” The Court likewise gives thisstatement slight weight as the statement
lacked sincerity. The tone and tenor of the apology did not, in the Court’s opinion, come from
someone who was genuinely remorseful. Even assuming that the Defendant Was remorseful,
such retrospective remorse is not entitled to any sngmﬁcant weight. To the contrary, the Court
believes that the Defendant's feigned remorse stems from the fact that the Defendant was
apprehended. The Defendant was disappointed that the fool- -proof, premeditated murder plot
,which hc developed over nearly three (3) months, and which included shooting the victim *
the *F* ing head,” failed.

When independently weighing the aggravating circumstances as to the Aggravated
Murder as previously outlined against the collective factors in mitigation, this Court finds that
the aggravating circumstances not only outweigh the mitigating factors by proof beyond a
reasonable doubt, but in fact, they almost completely overshadow them.

The State of Ohio has recognized that under certain circumstances, the death penalty is
an appropriate sanction to any defendant who commits an Aggravated Murder during the
commission of these certain felonies. In the case at bar, theunderly; ng felonies are Aggravated
Burglary and Aggravated Robbery.

In this particular case, the Court accords substantial weight to the Aggravated Burglary
specification. In order to prove an Aggravated Burglary, the State is required to demonstrate

that the Defendant trespassed in the occupied structure for the purpose of committing a criminal
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act. In most instances, this criminal act is a theft offense, Occasionally, a Defendant wij
trespass  to commit a kidnapping or even a rape. Such criminal acts provide the basis upon
which a Defendant can be convicted of Aggravated Burglary. Then, if during any of these
underlying criminal acts, the victim js purposely killed, an Aggravated Murder with the
specification of Aggravated Burglary has been committed, These alone can permit the
imposition ofthe death penalty should the aggravating circumstance ofthe Aggravated Burglary
be found to outweigh the mitigating factors.

Under the facts in the instant case, this Court can not foresee of any other form of
Aggravated Burglary where the weight to be given to this aggravating circumstance could ever
be greater. The evidence reveals that the sole purpose for the Defendant's illegal entry in the
Fingerhut residence was not to commit a theft, a kidnapping or a rape, but to rather to carry out
the premeditated, cold blooded execution Robert S. Fingerhut, This is the most heinous form
of Aggravated Burglary, and it is entitled to unsurpassed weight. Further, in this Court's view,
this aggravating circumstance, standing alone, outweighs all of the evidence presented in
mitigation,

The Court further gives weight to the Aggravated Robberyspecification, After shooting
the Defendant in the head, the Defendant took personal property of the victim to effectuate his
¢scape. Indeed, the Defendant stole the victim's keys and his car.

Against this backdrop, the mitigating factors of the Defendant’s background, historyand
character, his Antisocial Personality Disorder, his Attention Deficit Disorder, his history ofdrug
and alcohol abuse, as well as his unsworn statement, have very little effect in minimizing,

lessening, or excusing the degree of the Defendant’s murderous conduct. From the
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overwhelming evidence, it is this Court’s opinion that the Defendant and the Co-Defendant
plotted the murder of Robert S, Fingerhut solely to collect $550,00.00 in insurance proceeds.
This was accomplished by trespassing in the residence where Fingerhut resided, for the sole
purpose of ambushing and murdering him.
Upon consideration of the relevant evidence raised at trial, the relevant testimony, the
other evidence, the unswom statement of the defendant, and the arguments of counsel, it is the

judgment of this Court that the aggravating circumstances, outweighed, by proof beyond a

reasonable doubt, the collective mitigating factors.

Dated:; /3/?/&52 )?7 Oj W

HON. JOHN M. STUARD
Judge, Court of Common Pleas

[ hercby certify that a copy of the foregoing opinion was hand delivered
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IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
TRUMBULL COUNTY, OHIO
CASE NO. 01-CR-794

STATE OF OHIO, )
Plaintiff )
vs. ) FINDINGS OF FACTS
NATHANIEL E. JACKSON, ) AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
Defendant )

The Defendant, Nathaniel E. Jackson, having entered a
plea of not guilty, this mafter proceeded to trial, and the
Defendant being found guilty was sentenced by this Court.

The matter is before the Court on remand from the Supreme
Court of Ohio pursuant to the Court's opinion and order on
remand. The remand is quite specific wherein having found no
prejudicial error in regard to Defendant, Nathaniel Jackson's.
conviction, the conviction and judgment of the Court was
affirmed. The reviewing Court went on to state the opinion
that the administrative act of typing this Court's opinion
evaluating the appropriateness of the death penalty as required
by R.C. 2929.03(F) was defective. The Supreme Court apparently
thought the prosecution participated in tﬁe Court's conclusions

as set forth in the final opinion.
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This writer has presided over the trials of each of the
Co-Defendants, Nathaniel Jackson and Donna Roberts. He has
reviewed and decided the appropriateness of the death penalty
option in both cases as required hy 0.R.C. 2929,03 and now does
s0 again as ordered by the Ohio Supreme Court.

On November 8, 2002, a Trumbull County jury returned a
verdict finding the Defendant, Nathaniel E. Jackson, guilty of
two (2) counts of Aggravated Murder arising from the death of
Robert §. Fingerhut. Since Count 1 ahd Count 2 of the
indictment merge for sentencing purposes, the State elected to
dismiss Cdunt 2 and proceed to the mitigation phaée on the 1st
count of the 1nd§ctment. Therefore, for the purposes of this
opinion, the Defendant was convicted, under the 1st count of
the indictment, of purposely, and with prior calculation and
design, of causing the death of Robeft S. Fingerhut. The jury
further found that the State had proved beyond a reasonable
doubt the specifications of Aggravating Circumstances. After
the mitigation hearing, the jury concluded that the State had
proved‘beyond a reasonable doubt that the Aggravating
Circumstances outweighed the mitigating factors and returned a

verdict recommending that the sentence of death be imposed upon

the Defendant.
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Factually, the evidence presented by the State revealed
that while the Defendant was in prison for a prior conviction
unrelated to the present case, he along with the co-defendant,
Donna Roberts, plotted the murder of her housemate and
ex-husband, Robert S. Fingerhut,

The police authorities in investigating the death of
Robert S§. Fingerhut found two (2) boxes of personal Tletters
written between Jackson and Roberts, wherein they planned in
great detail how the murder of Robert s. Fingerhut would be
carried out. The police also found numerous phone call
recordings from the institution in which Jackson had been
incarcerated wherein specific preparations were discussed.

The State, therefore, had a plethora of information in
the handwriting of both Co-Defendants wherein they plotted the
murder of Robert's housemate, and ex-husband, Robert §.
Fingerhut. Indeed, both of them conceived and executed a plan
to ki1l Fingerhut in order to permit the Defendant, Roberts, to
1ive "happily ever after."” However, the plan went awry when
Jackson, who was in the house where Fingerhut resided, was shot
in the Teft index finger during the execution of Fingerhut. He
then took Fingerhut's car keys and drove the vehicle which
Fingerhut typically operated to his business Tocation in to

Youngstown. Shortly thereafter, Roberts took the Defendant to
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a motel in Boardman and rented a room where Jackson could hide
out. Ultimately, the Defendant was captured at a house in
Youngstown, and gave a statement to the police alleging self
defense.

More specifically, the State introduced .evidence that on
December 11, 2001, two (2) days after the Defendant was
released from prison, Robert S. Fingerhut, while in his home,
was pistol whipped and shot 3 times, causing at Teast four
injuries from gunshots. Two of the injuries were to the back,
with one grazing the back, and the other entering near the
shoulder before exiting out the chest area of the victim,
Fingerhut also sustained a defensive gun shot wound to the
webbing of his left hand between the thumb and forefinger. The
fatal gunshot was to the top of Fingerhut's head and from a
short distance. This injury "would have dropped him like a
sack of potatoes," as testified to by Dr. Humphrey Germaniuk,
the coroner.

Police responded to the crime scene as a result of a 911
call. When they arrived at approximately 12:01 a.m., they were
met by the Co-Defendant, Donna Roberts, who informed them that
her ex-husband's car was missing. She also granted them
permission to search the residence and her car. During this

search, police found more than 140 letters from the Defendant
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to Roberts in her dresser, and an equal number of Tetters from
Roberts to the Defendant in the trunk of Roberts' car, in a
paper bag bearing the Defendant's name and prison number.

Additionally, law enforcement officers were able to
obtain 19 telephone conversations, lasting more than three (3)
hours, which were recorded while the Defendant was incarcerated
in Lorain Correctional Institution. These telephone
conversations, along with the letters which spanned three (3)
months, revealed a continuing and evolving plan to kill
Fingerhut immediately upon the Defendant's release from prison.

The evidence also revealed that Roberts, near the time of
the murder, was seen driving her automobile in a very slow
manner away from the vicinity of the home where Fingerhut
lived. Furthermore, within two (2) hours from the Tast time
Fingerhut was seen alive, Roberts rented a hotel! room for the
Defendant. In this room, bloody bandages and other medical
supplies were found by hotel cleaning people and were
subsequently collected by police.

The car which was usually driven by Fingerhut, and which
had been reported stolen by the Co-Defendant, was recovered in
Youngstown, Ohio. Bloodstains were located throughout the
vehicle and were collected by law enforcement. DNA analysis

revealed that the blood matched that of DNA profile of the
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Defendant.

The State also introduced evidence that Roberts and the
Defendant discussed purchasing a "new Lincoln" or "2002
Cadillac DeVille" for the Defendant. Additionally, Fingerhut
had two (2) 1ife insurance policies with a total death benefit
of $550,000.00 and with Donna Roberts named as the beneficiary.

Based upon this and other evidence, the jury properly
concluded that the Defendant committed a burglary to facilitate
the premeditated and the purposeful murder of the victim
Fingerhut along with the Co-Defendant Roberts. The Defendant
after executing his plan, then stole Fingerhut's vehicle which
allowed the jury to find that the murder was committed while
committing the aggravating circumstances of Aggravated Burglary
and Aggravated Robbery.

In a case of this nature, pursuant to 0.R.C.
2929.03(D) (3), the Court is required to determine whether the
State has proved beyond a reasonable doubt that the aggravating

circumstances outweigh the mitigating factors. Indeed the

Supreme Court of Ohio has stated in State v. Wogenstahl (1996),

6 Dhio. St. 39, 844

The nature and circumstances of the offense may only
enter into the statutory weighing process on the side of
mitigation..,In the penalty phase of a capital trial, the
‘aggravating circumstances' against which the mitigating
evidence is to be weighed are Timited to the
specifications of aggravating circumstances set forth in
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RC 2929.04(A) (1) through (8) that have been alleged in
the indictment and proved beyond a reasonable doubt.
(See Wogenstahl at 356)

In performing its statutory duty, a review of the
aggravating circumstances is required.

1.) The Defendant committed the Aggravated Murder while
he was committing, attempting to commit, or fleeing
immediately after committing Aggravated Burglary
and that he was the principal offender,

The evidence presented at trial reflected that the
Defendant trespassed in the victim's dwelling and murdered him.
The Court finds that the Defendant entered into 254 Fonderlac
Drive in Howland Township. He was wearing gloves and armed
with a gun, with which he struck the victih leaving a mark on
Fingerhut's face. Once in the house, he fired the gun three
times causing four (4) separate wounds. The fatal shot was to
the top of Fingerhut's head, and nearly straight down.

From the aforementioned evidence, the Jury concluded that
the Defendant committed the Aggravated Murder while he was
committing, attempting to commit, or fleeing immediately after
committing Aggravated Burglary and that he was the principal
offender,

2.) The Defendant committed the Aggravated Murder while

he was committing, attempting to commit, or fleeing

immediately after committing Aggravated Robbery and
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that he was the principal offender.

As he was driving away from the crime scene, and prior to
abandoning the vehicle in Youngstown, he left blood evidence
throughout the car. This evidence was subjected to DNA
testing, which confirmed that forensically, it was his blood.
Quite simply, the Defendant committed the Aggravated Robbery to
escape the.consequences of his prior murderous act.

This evidence permitting the jury to conclude that the
Defendant committed the Aggravated Murder while he was
committing, attempting to commit, or fleeing immediately after
committing Aggravated Robbery and that he was the principal
offender.

To be weighed against the aggravating circumstances are
the mitigating factors. In this case, the following factors
were considered by the Court as possible mitigation against
each specification and against the imposition of the death
penalty:

1.) The nature and circumstances of the offense, the

history, character, and background of the
offender.

As was noted in Wogenstahl, supra, the nature and
circumstances of the offense may only enter into the statutory

weighing process on the side of mitigation. However, in this
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case, reviewing the nature and circumstances, the Court does
not find any credible evidence which would allow the Court to
accord any weight to the nature and circumstances of the
offense against the imposition of the death penalty.

In considering the history, character and background of
the offender, this Court considered the home 1ife of the
Defendant and the fact that he grew up in a relatively poor
environment, and that he was cared for and raised by his mother
and maternal grandmother. His biological father had 1ittle, if
any, real involvement with him, and this lack of a father
figure Tikely contributed to his behavioral problems.

.Though the Court gives some'weigﬁt to the Defendant's
upbringing, it deserves 1ittle weight because of the credible
testimony from the Defendant's step-father, his sister, his
mother, and Dr. McPherson. These witnesses testified that the
Defendant was respectful to both his mother and grandmother.
His sister, who described him as smart and really kind, noted
that they attended church. Further, there was testimony
offered that he was reared in an environment, where he was not
physically or sexually abused. His mother also declined to say
that his home was in a "rough neighborhood," or that the
Defendant had any problems in school. Dr. McPherson's report

noted that the Defendant had not been hospitalized for any
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physical or mental condition. The witnesses also notes that
they practiced moral tenets and that responsibility and respect
were taught,

In conclusion, from the testimony of these witnesses,
there is nothing particularly evident to show an unusual
childhood or to offer an explanation for the Defendant's
behavior which would be entitled any significant weight on the
side of mitigation.

2.) Whether the victim of the offense fnduced'or

facilitated the killing.

Although under R.C. 2929.04(B) (1), the mitigating factor
regarding whether the victim of the offense induced or
facilitated it, was not specifically argued by the Defendant
during the penalty phase of the trial as mitigating, the Court
did consider the Defendant's videotaped étatement presented in
evidence during the trial phase. In the self-serving
statement, the Defendant claimed that the killing of the victim
was as a result of the Defendant protecting himself from an
unprovoked attack by the victim.

This statement to the police attempted to construct a
scenario wherein the victim approached the Defendant to
purchase marijuana and then invited the Defendant into his

home, The Defendant then claims that the victim then pulled a
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gun on him. The Defendant asserted that he attempted to disarm
the victim, but the gun went off apparently striking the
victim. However, the other facts illustrating the planning and
execution of the murder, along with the physical evidence
introduced, causes the Defendant's version not to be credible,
As such, the Court does not accord any weight to this
mitigating factor.

3.) Whether it is unlikely that the offense would have
been committed, but for the fact that the offender
was under duress, coercion, or strong provocation.

Again, while the Defendant did not specifically argue

this mitigating factor, the Court upon reviewing the video
tape, noticed that the Defendant claimed that the victim made
derogatory statements about the Defendant's race which angered
the Defendant. However, this comment is likewise not
convincing for the same reasons noted previously. This
mitigating factor has no weight.

4.) Any other factors that are relevant to the issue of
whether the offender should be sentenced to
death.

Under R.C. 2929.04(B)(7), commonly referred to as the

“catch all provision," the Court reviewed the Defendant's

capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct in light
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of the defense expert testimony regarding his mental history
and mental state at the time of the offense was considered as a
possible factor under R.C. 2929.04(B)(3).

This testimony revealed that the Defendant suffered from
Attention Deficit Disorder/Hyperactivity Disorder, Chemical
Dependency, and a reported history of alcohol abﬁse. Further,
the evidence disclosed that the Defendant had an Antisocial
Personality Disorder and was considered lTow average or better
in intelligence.

Significantly, however, there was no evidence presented
that the Defendant, at the time of the offense,.had any mental
disease or defect or that he lacked the capacity to appreciate
the criminality of his conduct. His Antisocial Personality
Disorder only showed that he had a history of inappropriate and
impulsive behavior from his early childhood to the present. He
was: incarcerated four (4) times. According to the Defendant's
own expert, the Defendant, throughout his juvenile and adult
life had received repeated treatment and/or probation for his
criminal transgressions and his drug and alcohol abuse. He did
not learn from his past mistakes, but only escalated his
antisocial conduct.

In summary, this Court gives very little weight in

mitigation to the Defendant's mental status, and his drug and
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alcohol abuse history especially in light of the Defendant's
elaborate scheme to kill the victim, elude capture, and finally
his attempt to deceive police officers with a statement blaming
the victim.

Further under R.C. 2929.04(B)(7), the Court examined the
Defendant's ability to maintain himself in a stable fashion in
a structured setting. Indeed, it was suggested by the Defense
that he could be a productive member of the general prison
population, and that this should be considered as mitigating.
However, the Court gives slight weight to this particular
factor,

The Defendant's last incarceration was the result of him
not learning from his past mistakes, and from his tendency to
act’ out impulsively without looking at the consequences.
Furthermore, he repeatedly was placed on probation, but he
continued to digress, committing more serious criminal acts.
Indeed, during the last incarceration, the Defendant claimed to
have "found God" and that he was going to sfraighten out his
life. At the same time, it is abundantly clear that he was
plotting to commit the ultimate criminal act, a premeditated
burglary and murder, while pre-textually presenting himself to
prison officials as a good candidate for a release progranm.

Quite simply, in the very setting in which the Defense suggests
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that he could be a productive member, the Defendant defined and
refined a plot, involving gloves, a mask and handcuffs, to
murder Robert S, Fingerhut so that in effect he could assume
Fingerhut's 1ifestyle, including running the Greyhound bus
business, managing rental properties, and 1iving in his home
with Fingerhut's ex-wife.

The Defendant also offered an unsworn statement, wherein
he stated that he was "very sorry for what happened." The
Court Tikewise gives this statement slight weight as the
statement lacked sincerity. The tone and tenor of the apology
did not, in the Court's opinion, come from someone who was
genuinely remorseful. Even assuming that the Defendant was
remorseful, such retrospective remorse is not entitled to any
significant weight. To the contrary, the Court believes that
the Defendant's feigned remorse stems from the fact that the
Defendant was apprehended. The Defendant was disappointed that
the fool-proof, premeditated murder plot, which he developed
over nearly three (3) months, and which included shooting the
victim "in the 'F'ing head,"” failed.

When independently weighing the aggravating circumstances
as to the Aggravated Murder as previously outlined against the
collective factors in mitigation, this Court finds that the

aggravating circumstances not only outweigh the mitigating
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factors by proof beyond a reasonable doubt, but in fact, they
almost completely overshadow them.

The State of Ohio has recognized that under certain
circumstances, the death penalty is an appropriate sanction for
any Defendant who commits an Aggravated Murder during the
commission of certain felonies. In the case at bar, the
underlying felonies are Aggravated Burglary and Aggravated
Robbery.

In this particular case, the Court accords substantial
weight to the Aggravated Burglary specification. In order to
prove an Aggravated Burglary, the State is required to
demonstrate that the Defendant trespassed in the occupied
structure for the purpose of committing a criminal act. In
most instances, this criminal act is a theft offense.
Occasionally, a Defendant will trespass to commit a kidnapping
or even a rape. Such criminal acts provide the basis upon
which a Defendant can be convicted of Aggravated Burglary.
Then, if ddring any of these underlying criminal acts, the
victim is purposely killed, an Aggravated Murder with the
specification of Aggravated Burglary has been committed. These
alone can permit the imposition of the death penalty should the
aggravating circumstance of the Aggravated Burglary be found to

outweigh the mitigating factors.
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Under the facts in the instant case, this Court cannot
foresee of any other form of Aggravated Burglary where the
weight to be given to this aggravating circumstance could ever
be greater. The evidence reveals that the sole purpose for the
Defendant’s illegal entry in the Fingerhut residence was not to
commit a theft, a kidnapping or a rape, but rather to carry out
the premeditated, cold blooded execution of Robert S.
Fingerhut, This is the most heinous form of Aggravated'
Burglary, and it is entitled to unsurpassed weight. Further,
in this Court's view, this aggravating circumstance, standing
alone, outweighs all of the evidence preéented in mitigation.

The Court further gives weight to the Aggravated Robbery
specification. After shooting the victim in the head, the
Defendant took personal property of the victim to effectuate.
his escape. Indeed, the Defendant stole the victim's keys and
his car.

Against this backdrop, the mitigating factors of the
Defendant's background, history and character, his Antisocial
Personality Disorder, his Attention Deficit Disorder, his
history of drug and alcohol abuse, as well as his unsworn
statement, have very Tittle effect in minimizing, lessening, or
excusing the degree of the Defendant's murderous conduct. From

the overwhelming evidence, it is this Court's opinion that the
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Defendant and the Co-Defendant plotted the murder of Robert S,

Fingerhut solely to collect $550,000.00 in insurance proceeds.
This was accomplished by trespassing in the residence where

Fingerhut resided, for the sole purpose of ambushing and

murdering him,
Upon consideration of the relevant evidence raised at

the unsworn

trial, the relevant testimony, the other evidence,

statement of the Defendant, and the arguments of counse)
the aggravating circumstances,

, 1t is

the judgement of this Court that

outweigh, by proof beyond a reasonable doubt, the collective

mitigating factors.

5%2///&?_ @Q WA\EIMM

DATE JUDGE JOHN M. STUARD
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
TRUMBULL COUNTY, OHIO

£2
LERK OF COURTS: YOU ARE ORDERED TO SERVE o= n; x
COPIES OF THIS JUDGHENT ON AL GOUNSEL OF SEGORD o R ST
OR UPON THE PAR WHO ARE UNREPRESENTED FO o 5 ; £
WITH BY ORDI MAIL, 2 Hoe b : .
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IN THE CQURT OF COMMON PLEAS
:  GENERAL DIVISION -
TRUMBULL COUNTY, OHIO -

L CASE NUMBER: 2001 CR 00794
STATE OF OHIO 0 |

PLAINTIFF
Vs. ° JUDGE RONALD J. RICE

NATHANIEL E JACKSON
DEFENDANT

This matter i Is before the Court on the Motion for Leave i:o Fle a Motron for New |
Mitigation Trial filed by Defendant Nathanfel Jackeon The C0urt has revrewed the _
motion and memoranda, opposrtion in respon_se,. repiy,,pleadmgs and.-the re[evant,'.
_appiicabie faw. | | Sy

The Court finds there are pr0cec|ural as well as. substantive deficiencies in
Jackson s request Initially, the Court ﬁnds tHe motion for leave to ﬁle motion for a
new rmtigatrori trial is akln to seeking leave to f Ie a request for a new tnai pursuant to
Crim.R. 33. Jackson cieims irregularity in the sentencmg proceedmgs as thé basis for
the motion However the Court fiiids the motion IS unhmely Pursuanit to Crim. R. , |
33(B), moticms such as this must be ﬂied within fourteen days after the verdict Was -~
rendered Jackson s entireiy outsrde this time frame. Therefore the Court i" nds no .
basis on which to grant leave to file a request under Cr!m R. 33. |

In addihon, if the Court were to construe .’Jackson s mo’don as a post-conviction _
relief request pursuani: to R,C. 2953.21, the Couri: finds no . baSis on which to grarit.'-
such a request. The_'Co_urt fids such a p,ostecohvietion reqoe'st _would be time b_ar_red

asthe request was filed well beyond the 180-day statutoky period.

lliillﬂiill\lIll\lliil\llﬂlilii\llill \HI\Iﬂlﬂl\IilI\lll j:‘j;:ﬂ% .
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decision is 'mFspIaced.""Hufsz: ***__does '-n'c;t.3!hva|‘lcléte,0hlo"s ca‘pital sentenicirig

Bobby, “S.D.0hio No. 2:09-CV-059, 2017 WL 631411, *3-4. In fact, the -Ohlo

V. Belton, 2016-Ohio-1581, 959.

Therefore; the Court-ﬂnas t'_here is-nb appligéble;law',r criminal rule or ¢ase
precedent on which to base Ja;ksbn’s r'ecer;t filing for leéve to file & motion for new |
mitigation trial. 'Acc0rding'ty,. the Court finds the re‘q(@_.est for leave is ot well taken'and
the same 'is‘ hereby .denled._' '

IT IS SO ORDERED.

" JUDGERONALD. RICE

Date;_03 ~ 27= 30/
Copies to: " L
RANDALL L PORTER -

' LUWAYNE ANNOS
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Even if the Court did not find the Eequa‘sts were time barred as exp!'ai'ne_d‘

~herein, the Court finds the _re!lan't__:‘e upon the Hurst‘w Florida, 136 S. Ct. 616 (20‘16)7'
scheme because Ofiio’s scheme fs materially different from’ Florida's.” McKnight v. - R

mechanism provides an additional layer of protection ndt present ih Aurst: Id. Indeed, ‘

"Ohio’s capitai-'sehtendng scheme is unlike the laws at iés_ué i Ring and Hurst.” State




io ode Ann. § 2 1

(A) If the indictment or count in the indictment charging aggravated murder
does not contain one or more specifications of aggravating circumstances listed in
division (A) of section 2929.04 of the Revised Code, then, following a verdict of guilty
of the charge of aggravated murder, the trial court shall impose a sentence of life
imprisonment with parole eligibility after serving twenty years of imprisonment on
the offender.

B) If the indictment or count in the indictment charging aggravated
murder contains one or more specifications of aggravating circumstances listed in
division (A) of section 2929.04 of the Revised Code, the verdict shall separately state
whether the accused is found guilty or not guilty of the principal charge and, if guilty
of the principal charge, whether the offender was eighteen years of age or older at the
time of the commission of the offense, if the matter of age was raised by the offender
pursuant to section 2929.023 [2929.02.3] of the Revised Code, and whether the
offender is guilty or not guilty of each specification. The jury shall be instructed on
its duties in this regard, which shall include an instruction that a specification shall
be proved beyond a reasonable doubt in order to support a guilty verdict on the
specification, but such instruction shall not mention the penalty which may be the
consequence of a guilty or not guilty verdict on any charge or specification.

(O)(1) If the indictment or count in the indictment charging aggravated murder
contains one or more specifications of aggravating circumstances listed in division
(A) of section 2929.04 of the Revised Code, then, following a verdict of guilty of the
charge but not guilty of each of the specifications, and regardless of whether the
offender raised the matter of age pursuant to section 2929.028 [2929.02.8] of the
Revised Code, the trial court shall impose a sentence of life imprisonment with parole
eligibility after serving twenty years of imprisonment on the offender.

(2) Iftheindictment or count in the indictment contains one or more specifications
of aggravating circumstances listed in division (A) of section
of the Revised Code, and if the offender is found guilty of both the charge and one or
more of the specifications, the penalty to be imposed on the offender shall be death,
life imprisonment with parole eligibility after serving twenty full years of
imprisonment, or life imprisonment with parole eligibility after serving thirty full
years of imprisonment, shall be determined pursuant to divisions () and (E) of this
section, and shall be determined by one of the following:

(a) By the panel of three judges that tried the offender upon his waiver of the right

to trial by jury;
(b) By the trial jury and the trial judge, if the offender was tried by jury.

(D)@ Death may not be imposed as a penalty for aggravated murder if the offender
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raised the matter of age at trial pursuant to section 2929.023 [2929.02.3] of the
Revised Code and was not found at trial to have been eighteen years of age or older
at the time of the commission of the offense. When death may be imposed as a penalty
for aggravated murder, the court shall proceed under this division. When death may
be imposed as a penalty, the court, upon the request of the defendant, shall require a
pre-sentence investigation to be made and, upon the request of the defendant, shall
require a mental examination to be made, and shall require reports of the
investigation and of any mental examination submitted to the court, pursuant to
section 2947.06 of the Revised Code. No statement made or information provided by
a defendant in a mental examination or proceeding conducted pursuant to this
division shall be disclosed to any person, except as provided in this division, or be
used in evidence against the defendant on the issue of guilt in any retrial. A pre-
sentence investigation or mental examination shall not be made except upon request
of the defendant. Copies of any reports prepared under this division shall be furnished
to the court, to the trial jury if the offender was tried by a jury, to the prosecutor, and
to the offender or his counsel for use under this division. The court, and the trial jury
if the offender was tried by a jury, shall consider any report prepared pursuant to this
division and furnished to it and any evidence raised at trial that is relevant to the
aggravating circumstances the offender was found guilty of committing or to any
factors in mitigation of the imposition of the sentence of death, shall hear testimony
and other evidence that is relevant to the nature and circumstances of the
aggravating circumstances the offender was found guilty of committing, the miti-
gating factors set forth in division (B) of section 2929.04 of the Revised Code, and
any other factors in mitigation of the imposition of the sentence of death, and shall
hear the statement, if any, of the offender, and the arguments, if any, of counsel for
- the defense and prosecution, that are relevant to the penalty that should be imposed
on the offender, The defendant shall be given great latitude in the presentation of
evidence of the mitigating factors set forth in division (B) of section 2929.04 of the
Revised Code and of any other factors in mitigation of the imposition of the sentence
of death, If the offender chooses to make a statement, he is subject to cross-examina-
tion only if he consents to make the statement under oath or affirmation.

The defendant shall have the burden of going forward with the evidence of any
factors in mitigation of the imposition of the sentence of death. The prosecution shall
have the burden of proving, by proof beyond a reasonable doubt, that the aggravating
circumstances the defendant was found guilty of committing are sufficient to
outweigh the factors in mitigation of the imposition of the sentence of death,

(2)Upon congideration of the relevant evidence raised at trial, the testimony,
other evidence, statement of the offender, arguments of counsel, and, if applicable,
the reports submitted pursuant to division (D)(1) of this section, the trial jury, if the
offender was tried by a jury, shall determine whether the aggravating circumstances
the offender was found guilty of committing are sufficient to out weigh the mitigating
factors present in the case. If the trial jury unanimously finds, by proof beyond a
reasonable doubt, that the aggravating circumstances the offender was found guilty
of committing outweigh the mitigating factors, the trial jury shall recommend to the
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court that the sentence of death be imposed on the offender. Absent such a finding,
the jury shall recommend that the offender be sentenced to life imprisonment with
parole eligibility after serving twenty full years of imprisonment or to life
imprisonment with parole eligibility after serving thirty full years of imprisonment.

If the trial jury recommends that the offender be sentenced to life
imprisonment with parole eligibility after serving twenty full years of imprisonment
or to life imprisonment with parole eligibility after serving thirty full years of
imprisonment, the court shall impose the sentence recommended by the jury upon
the offender. If the trial jury recommends that the sentence of death be imposed upon
the offender, the court shall proceed to impose sentence pursuant to division (D)(3)
of this section.

(8)Upon consideration of the relevant evidence raised at trial, the testimony,
other evidence, statement of the offender, arguments of counsel, and, if applicable,
the reports submitted to the court pursuant to division (D)(1) of this section, if, after
receiving pursuant to division (D)(2) of this section the trial jury's recommendation
that the sentence of death be imposed, the court finds, by proof beyond a reasonable
doubt, or if the panel of three judges unanimously finds, that the aggravating circum-
stances the offender was found guilty of committing outweigh the mitigating factors,
it shall impose sentence of death on the offender. Absent such a finding by the court
or panel, the court or the panel shall impose one of the following sentences on the
offender: :

(a) Life imprisonment with parole eligibility after serving twenty full years of
imprisonment;

(b)Life imprisonment with parole eligibility after serving thirty full years of
imprisonment.

(K) If the offender raised the matter of age at trial pursuant to section 2929 .023
(2929 .02.3] of the Revised Code, was convicted of aggravated murder and one or
more specifications of an aggravating circumstance listed in division (A) of section
2929.04 of the Revised Code, and was not found at trial to have been eighteen years
of age or older at the time of the commission of the offense, the court or the panel of
three judges shall not impose a sentence of death on the offender. Instead, the court
or panel shall impose one of the following sentences on the offender:

(1) Life imprisonment with parole eligibility after serving twenty full years of
imprisonment:

(2) Life imprisonment with parole eligibility after sexving thirty full years of
imprisonment.

() The court or the panel of three judges, when it imposes sentence of death, shall
state in a separate opinion its specific findings as to the existence of any of the
mitigating factors set forth in division (B) of section 2929.04 of the Revised Code, the
existence of any other mitigating factors, the aggravating circumstances the offender
was found guilty of committing, and the reasons why the aggravating circumstances
the offender was found guilty of committing were sufficient to outweigh the
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mitigating factors. The court or panel, when it imposes life imprisonment under
division (D) of this section, shall state in a separate opinion its specific findings of
which of the mitigating factors set forth in division (B) of section 2929.04 of the
Revised Code it found to exist, what other mitigating factors it found to exist, what
aggravating circumstances the offender was found guilty of committing, and why it
could not find that these aggravating circumstances were sufficient to outweigh the
mitigating factors. The court or panel shall file the opinion required to be prepared
by this division with the clerk of the appropriate court of appeals and with the clerk
of the supreme court within fifteen days after the court or panel imposes sentence.
The judgment in a case in which a sentencing hearing is held pursuant to this section
18 nof, final until the opinion is filed. ;

(G) Whenever the court or a panel of three judges 1mposes sentence of death, the
clerk of the court in which the judgment is rendered shall deliver the entire record in
the case to the appellate court.

HISTORY: 134 v H 511(Eff 1-1-74); 139 v S1. Eff 10-19 81.
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